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I.BACKGROUND

The stafFofthe Securities and Exchange Commission is soliciting distribution cost proposals from potential
candidates who may be interested in serving as the fund administrator to oversee the distribution of funds to be
paid by Respondents in the above-referenced matter.

Focus Media is a Cayman Islands advertising corporation headquartered in Hong Kong, with substantially all
of its business operations located in mainland China. During the relevant time period, Focus Media's
common stock was registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities and Exchange
Act of l 934 ("Exchange Act"), and its American Depository Shares traded on the Nasdaq Global Market.
Jason Jiang, a citizen of Singapore, was the founder of Focus Media, has been the Chairman of the board of
directors of Focus Media since its founding, and, during the relevant time period, was CEO of Focus Media
(collectively, "Respondents").

The Commission's allegations against the Respondents are described in the Order Instituting Cease-and-Desist
Proceedings Pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act of l 933 ("Securities Act") and Section 2l C of the
Exchange Act, Making Findings, and Imposing aCease-and-Desist Order. Attached hereto as Attachment A.
The Order alleged that the Resondents negligently failed to disclose accurate information concerning Focus
Media's partial sale of securities in its wholly owned-subsidary Allyes Online Media Holdings Ltd ("Allyes")
to certain insiders at a favorable price, months before both the insiders and Focus media sold their interest in
Allyes to a private equity firm at nearly six times the price they had paid. As a result, the Commission charged
Respondents with violating Section 17(x)(2) of the Securities Act and Section l 3(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange
Act.

Respondents were ordered, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, to cease and desist from committing
or causing any violations or future violations of Sections 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act. Respondents were
further ordered, pursuant to Section 21 C of the Exchange Act, to cease and desist from committing or causing
any violations or future violations of Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act.

As a result of the violations, a civil penalty was ordered from Focus Media in the amount of $34,600,000.00.
Jiang was ordered to pay a civil penalty of $9,690,000.00, disgorgement of $9,690,000.00, and prejudgment



interest of $1,647,865.43. The Respondents consented to the Order which was issued on September 30, 2015.
The Order created a Fair Fund (the "Fund") pursuant to Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for
distribution of the amounts ordered.

II. FUND ADMINISTRATOR/DISTRIBUTION AGENT REQUIREMENTS—SCOPE OF
WORK:

SPECIFIC TASKS DEFINED

1. Develop a Distribution Plan: The fund administrator/distribution agent is required to draft a
distribution plan in accordance with relevant Commission or court orders, applicable laws, regulations,
policies and procedures.
2. Distribution Fund Administration: The fund administrator/distribution agent will account to the SEC
staff for all monies in the Distribution Fund, including all distribution payments made by check or ACH
wire transfer. An administrator bond may be required per Commission rule or court order. The cost of the
bond may be reimbursed as a distribution expense.
3. Identification and Notification: If required by the distribution plan, the fund administrator/distribution
agent will identify and notify eligible investors. This may include a notice and claims process to determine
potentially eligible investors.
4. Investor Support Services: The fund administrator/distribution agent shall maintain support services to
assist potentially eligible injured investors in obtaining information relating to the Distribution Fund
(investor eligibility and fund distribution), and requirements for participation in the distribution. This may
include creation, development, and hosting of a website and the establishing of a toll-free call center to
answer questions.
5. Finalized Proposed Distribution List: The fund administrator/distribution agent shall prepare a
finalized proposed distribution list of eligible investors.
6. Distribution: In accordance with the distribution plan, the fund administrator/distribution agent will
disburse the Distribution Fund to eligible injured investors upon written authorization from the SEC or the
court, as applicable.
7. Document Retention: The distribution agent will retain distribution records for asix-year period from
the date of submission of the final fund accounting by the distribution agent.

III. PREPARATION INSTRUCTIONS:

Distribution Cost Proposals shall consist of the following Volumes, subject to page limitations as noted
below. All Volumes shall be clearly marked and separated into individual documents. A page is considered
to be one side of a single sheet of 8 'h" x 1 l"paper, single spaced, using not smaller than l 1 point type font,
and having margins at the top, bottom and sides of the page of no less than one inch. Cover pages, table of
context, and other index pages do not count towards page limitations. Documents should be submitted via
email in Microsoft Word or PDF format.

Section 1: Technical and Management Approach (not to exceed 2- 3 pages in length)

Technical and Management Approach: The fund administrator/distribution agent candidate must
effectively demonstrate a knowledge, understanding, and technical ability to successfully perfor►n the
requirements of the SOW. The candidate's technical approach should include the following: 1) discussion
of the background, objectives, and work requirements of the SOW; 2) discussion of proposed methods and
techniques for completing each task; and 3) discussion of any anticipated major difficulties and problem
areas, along with potential recommended approaches for their resolution.
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The Candidate's general management approach should include a plan for performing the SOW that clearly
describes project personnel and responsibilities, any proposed subcontracting arrangements,
communication and coordination plans, schedules of tasks and subtasks, and meetings. The candidate must
include a timeline for the expected completion of the Distribution, which includes all variables and
assumptions utilized to determine the timeframe of the project.

The fund administrator/distribution agent may choose to include resumes or CV of key personnel in this
volume. Each resume should be limited to (2) pages, and does not count towards the page limit of this
volume.

Section 2: Cost Proposal (no page limit) The cost proposal volume should contain your best estimate of the
total cost necessary to administer and distribute the Fund, with an itemized description of the component costs.
All costs must be broken down to a per unit rate or hourly rate. Any elements of cost that are listed without a
per unit rate or hourly rate will be considered a fixed rate (this does not include expenses such as publications,
postage fees, etc). Cost proposal should include an explanation of the methodology potential fund
administrators utilized to determine their estimated number of claimants. Attachment C- Cost Proposal
Template is provided as the format to be used for your cost volume. Cost data is not to be included in any
other volume of the proposal.

Conflicts and Background Information Form: the completed Attachment B-Conflicts and Background

Information Form is required to be completed and submitted with your written proposal.

IV. SELECTION FACTORS:

Submissions in response to this Distribution Cost Proposal will be reviewed based upon the following
selection factors. Proposals will be evaluated based on "Best Value" to the distribution fund and the SEC,
with all technical and other non-price factors considered more important than price. However, the
importance of price among proposals will increase when the technical merits of submitted proposals are
generally equivalent.

A. TechnicaUManagement Approach and Understanding —This criterion refers to the degree to
which the proposed fund administrator/distribution agent effectively demonstrates the knowledge,
understanding, and technical ability to successfully perform the work of the distribution and the
demonstrated effectiveness of the proposed fund administrator's general management approach to
all requirements of the Distribution Cost Proposal.

B. Price Factors -The following price factors are accorded equal importance: (l) the reasonableness
and fairness of the proposed prices and fees; and (2) whether the proposedprices and fees are
realistic for the work to be performed.

V. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS:

Interested parties shall submit an electronic copy of the distribution cost proposal in Microsoft Word or
PDF format no later than 5:00 pm Eastern Standard Time on January 13, 2017 to the Office of Distributions
at DistP~nalysis(a~sec.gov with a courteousy copy (Cc) to ENFDistributionsUnit(a~~ o~v. The e-mail
must clearly be marked with the case title in the subject line.
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VI. DEADLINES:

Questions and clarifications regarding this Distribution Cost Proposal must be submitted as a Microsoft
Word attachment in numbered format to an email to the Office of Distributions at
DistP~ysis(a~sec.gov no later than 5:00 pm Eastern Standard Time on December 23, 20 ] 6. The
e-mail's subject line should be: "Questions regarding Distribution Proposal for Focus Media Holding
Limited/JasonJiang" (AP File No. 3-16852).

Please respond with your intent to submit a distribution cost proposal no later than 5:00 pm Eastern
Standard Time on January 6, 2017

A proposal, including a Conflicts of Interest and Background Information Form and cost Proposal, must be
submitted via email in PDF format to the Office of Distributions at DistP mA~nalysis e,sec.gov no later than
5:00 pm Eastern Standard Time on January l3, 2017. The e-mail's subject line should be: "Distribution
Proposal for Focus Media Holding Limited/Jason Jiang" (AP File No. 3-1 6852).

LATE SUBMISSIONS WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED.

Thank you for your interest in the SEC's distribution program and please do not hesitate to contact us with
any questions.

Adriene Mixon
Assistant Chief Litigation Counsel
Office of Distribution
Division of Enforcement
Securities and Exchange Commission
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Attachment B: Conflicts and Background Information Form

ADDENDUM TO CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION

I am providing the Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") with the following addendum to

Conflicts of Interest and Background Information dated concerning

[the "Company"], which is being considered for appointment as the Fund Administrator

for Focus Media Holding Limited and Jason Jiang - AP File No. 3-16852. I agree to supplement this

information on behalf of the Company if any of the information herein changes, within thirty days of such change.

I agree to provide such other Conflict of Interest information as requested by the Commission or its staff, and to take

such steps as reasonably requested by the Commission or its staff in order to mitigate any conflicts that the

Commission or its staff determine may exist, in their sole discretion. [Attach additional sheets as necessary.]

Except where otherwise noted, for purposes of the information request below, "you" means you an individual, as

well as any spouse or dependents, and separately, any firm, partnership, joint venture, or other business in which

you are an officer or director, or in which you have a substantial financial interest.

Except where otherwise noted, this information is requested for anv responsive matters existin during the last five

years. Also, if during the course of your duties you become aware of responsive information concernin~a

potential claimant in the matter listed above, you must promptly supplement your response to disclose that

information:

List all contracts, consulting engagements, employment, service as an officer or director, or other work of any

kind you have performed for any respondent in this matter, or any of its parents, subsidiaries, or other

affiliates, or any claimant in this matter. Include any responsive matters existing during the last ten years.

2. List any financial interests in or with the respondent, its parents, subsidiaries, or other affiliates, or any

claimant in this matter (e.g., stocks, bonds, options, other debt or equity interests, partnerships, retirement

plans).

List all other personal or professional relationships or interests in or with the respondent, its parents,
subsidiaries, or other affiliates, or with any of their officers or directors, or any claimant in this matter, not

listed above.

4. List all matters in which you have been retained as a Receiver, Distribution Fund Administrator, Distribution

Consultant, or as a subcontractor, agent or other service provider, in connection with any civil action or

administrative proceeding by the Commission.

5. List all other prior or existing cases, matters, or proceedings in which the Commission has an interest, in

which you have been retained or served as a witness, consultant, or other expert.

6. Identify any disciplinary proceedings, felony criminal indictment or information (or equivalent formal

charge) or a misdemeanor criminal information (or equivalent formal charge), civil proceedings or actions

against you personally by any Federal, state, local, or foreign entities and the results of those proceedings.

Include any responsive matters regardless of when they arose.



7. Identify any actual or potential conflicts of which you are aware, regardless of when they arose, that are not
identified or addressed in paragraphs 1 through 5 above, but that may affect the performance of your duties
under this appointment.

If you believe any of the information provided in response to these requests is non-public or confidential, you may
request confidential treatment by the Commission pursuant to the procedures set forth at l 7 C.F.R. §200.83.

Under penalty of perjury, and on behalf of the Company, I declare that I have examined the information given
in this statement, and attached hereto, and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, correct, and
complete. I understand that any material misstatements or omissions made by me herein or in any
attachments hereto may constitute criminal violations, punishable under 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

By:
Signature

Name:

Title:

On behalf of:

Date:

Fund Administrator

Focus Media Holding Limited and Jason Jiang
AP File No. 3-16852
RespondenbDefendant Narne, Action Number/Case Number
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Attachment C: Cost Proposal Template

DISTRIBUTION SERVICES UNIT PRICE

DEVELOP DISTRIBUTION PLAN*
Draft distribution plan JOB/ $

HR. $

Economic analysis JOB/ $

HR. $

Harm/Loss calculation JOB/ $
H R. $

Determine pre judgment interest component JOB/ $

H R. $

DISTRIBUTION FUND MANAGEMENT
Account set-up: Open bank accounts) (per matter) (may include deposit 

JOB $
account and escrow account.)

Account maintenance fee: Track cashed and uncashed checks (per matter)
accepted and rejected EFTS; Provide information needed by tax administrator YR. ~
to prepare and file tax returns (per matter per return)

Maintenance of bank data (live on computer) MO. $

DISTRIBUTIONS LIST: CLAIMS PROCESS

Data entry of potential eligible investor list

] to 4,999 EA $
5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $
25,000 to 49,999 EA $
50,000 and above EA $

Electronic conversion of potential eligible investor data
1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $
25,000 to 49,999 EA $
SQ,000 and above EA $

Prepare and mail notification letters, claim forms, deficiency/rejection letters,
etc. (per letter) (LISPS)

1 to 4,999 EA $
5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $
25,000 to 49,999 EA $
50,000 and above EA $



Prepare and electronically mail notification letters, claim forms, etc. 
EA $

(per email)
Address Searches and mail undeliverable mail for which a current address
was found (per letter)

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $

50,000 and above EA $

Contact potentially eligible investors lacking documentation and obtain
corrected information

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $
50,000 and above EA $

Respond to investors whose claims will be denied

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $
50,000 and above EA $

Analyze paper claim forms; identify duplicate, unverifiable or fraudulent
claims

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $

50,000 and above EA $

Analyze electronic claim forms; identify duplicate, unverifiable, or fraudulent
claims

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $

50,000 and above EA $

Scan and sort all mail

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $

50,000 and above EA $



DISTRIBUTIONS LIST: OTHER PROCESS*
Obtain investor data from appropriate sources; develop economic analysis 

SOB/ $
and methodology for loss calculation and allocation.

HR $

OUTREACH TO INTERMEDIARIES

Identify intermediaries (such as omnibus accounts) where shares are held for 
EA $

potentially eligible investors
Contact intermediaries and request investor records or certifications per plan EA $

Maintain records of responses or certifications of intermediaries EA $

DISTRIBUTION PAYMENT

Design, order, print and mail checks CUSPS)

1 to 4,999 EA $
5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $

50,000 and above EA $

Design, order, prepare and implement ACH wire transfer

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA ~

50,000 and above EA $

Follow up with investors on potentially stale checks

1 to 4,999 EA $

5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $

25,000 to 49,999 EA $

50,000 and above EA $

Mail tax forms to investors, when required (per investor)

1 to 4,999 EA $
5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $
25,000 to 49,999 EA $
50,000 and above EA $

INVESTOR SUPPORT SERVICES

Support services for incoming telephone calls, emails, and mail (per matter)

1 to 4,999 EA $
5,000 to 9,999 EA $

10,000 to 24,999 EA $
25,000 to 49,999 EA $
50,000 and above EA $
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Toll-free call center MO. $

INDEPENDENT THIRD-PARTY REVIEW

Review of processes and procedures used to identify potential eligible
injured investors, verify losses, determine eligible injured investors, allocate JOB/ $
distribution fund, and implement the distribution.*

HR. $

ACCOUNTINGS

Reconcile all accounts JOB $

Prepare and provide quarterly SEC Standard Fund Accounting Report. (per
matter) 

JOB $

Prepare and provide final SEC Standard Fund Accounting Report (close
bank/investment accounts; prepare account reconciliations, etc.) 

JOB $

REPORTING &RECORD KEEPING

Computer services and data maintenance: Maintain, store, and provide
copies of records, including those of all claims filed, if applicable, and M O. $
whether granted or denied (upon request) -per matter

Prepare and.provide report on actual expenditures of fund administration JOB $

Not separately
priced, services

MISCELLANEOUSSERVICES NSP to be negotiated
on an as needed
basis.





 
 


 
 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 Before the 
 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 
Release No. 9933 / September 30, 2015 
 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
Release No. 76030 / September 30, 2015 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 3-16852 
  
 
 
In the Matter of 
 
        FOCUS MEDIA HOLDING    
        LIMITED and JASON JIANG, 
 
Respondents. 
 
 


 ORDER INSTITUTING CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT 
OF 1933 AND SECTION 21C OF THE 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 
MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING A 
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER 
 
 


 
 


I. 
 


The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate that 
cease-and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are, instituted pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities 
Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) and Section 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
(“Exchange Act”), against Focus Media Holding Limited (“Focus Media”) and Jason Jiang 
(“Jiang”, and collectively with Focus Media, “Respondents”).   


 
II. 


 
In anticipation of the institution of these proceedings, Respondents have submitted an Offer 


of Settlement (the “Offer”) which the Commission has determined to accept.  Solely for the 
purpose of these proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or on behalf of the 
Commission, or to which the Commission is a party, and without admitting or denying the findings 
herein, except as to the Commission’s jurisdiction over them and the subject matter of these 
proceedings, which are admitted, and except as provided herein in Section V, Respondents consent 
to the entry of this Cease and Desist Order (“Order”), as set forth below.   
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III. 


 
On the basis of this Order and Respondents’ Offer, the Commission finds1 that: 


 
Summary 


 
1. These proceedings concern Focus Media’s and its founder and Chief 


Executive Officer Jiang’s negligent failure to disclose accurate information concerning Focus 
Media’s partial sale of securities in its wholly-owned subsidiary Allyes Online Media Holdings 
Ltd. (“Allyes”) to certain Allyes and Focus Media insiders at a favorable price, months before 
both the insiders and Focus Media sold their interests in Allyes to a private equity firm at nearly 
six times the price the Allyes and Focus Media insiders had paid. 
 


Respondents  
 


2. Focus Media is a Cayman Islands corporation headquartered in Hong 
Kong, with substantially all of its business operations located in mainland China.  During the 
relevant time period, Focus Media’s common stock was registered with the Commission 
pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, and its American Depository Shares traded on the 
Nasdaq Global Market.  Subsequently, on June 3, 2013, Focus Media Filed a Form 15 that 
provided notice of termination of its registration with the Commission.   


 
3. Jason Jiang, a citizen of Singapore, is the founder of Focus Media, has 


been the Chairman of the board of directors of Focus Media since its founding, and, during the 
relevant time period, was CEO of Focus Media.  


 
Background 


 
4.  Focus Media is a China-based advertising company that concentrates in 


what is often called Out-of-Home advertising.  Such advertising includes traditional and digital 
displays in public places, such as building lobbies, elevators, stores, and outdoor locations.  At 
the end of 2009, Focus Media had operations that included an LCD display network and poster 
frame network for selling ads in commercial and residential buildings; an “In-store” network for 
selling ads in retail spaces; selling advertising time on movie screens; outdoor billboards; and an 
internet advertising network.  Focus Media conducted its internet advertising business through its 
wholly-owned Allyes subsidiary.  In 2009, the Allyes internet advertising business accounted for 
21.4% of Focus Media’s total revenues. 
   


5. On March 22, 2010, Focus Media publicly reported annual and fourth-
quarter 2009 earnings through a Form 6-K filing.  The filing also disclosed that during the first 
                                              
1 The findings herein are made pursuant to Respondents’ Offers of Settlement and are not binding 
on any other person or entity in this or any other proceeding. 
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quarter of 2010 Focus Media sold a part of its Allyes business in what was described as a 
“Management Buy-Out” (“MBO”):  “Certain Allyes employees and management and directors 
and certain members of the Company’s management and directors recently entered into a 
definitive agreement with the Company and Allyes in January 2010 to buy-out an aggregate 38% 
interest in Allyes from the Company.”  Jiang was the largest individual purchaser in the MBO.  
The MBO purchase price, as also disclosed in the Form 6-K, was $13.3 million, which 
represented an implied valuation for the entire Allyes entity of approximately $35 million.  The 
stated reason for the MBO was that it was “part of initiatives being taken by the Company to 
incentivize management to enhance the future business model of Allyes and thereby to seek 
long-term sustainable growth for the Company and investors.”  Focus Media also stated that the 
purchase price was based upon, inter alia, an independent third-party valuation report.   


 
6. On July 16, 2010, Focus Media filed an amended annual report for 2009 


on a Form 20-F.  The Form 20-F/A repeated the description of the MBO, and stated that the price 
paid in the MBO approximated fair value.  In addition, the Form 20-F/A reiterated that the MBO 
was part of initiatives undertaken to incentivize management to enhance the future business 
model of Allyes and thereby increase shareholder value.  Respondent Jiang signed the Form 20-
F/A as Chairman and CEO of Focus Media.   


 
7. Two weeks later, on July 30, 2010, Focus Media publicly announced that, 


a private equity firm (“Acquiror”), had agreed to acquire a controlling stake in Allyes from 
Focus Media and the other shareholders.  The disclosed $124 million purchase price for Focus 
Media’s remaining 62% interest in Allyes represented an implied valuation of $200 million for 
the entire Allyes entity.   


 
8. As indicated by the following sequence of events, Focus Media’s public 


disclosures inaccurately described the circumstances concerning the MBO and the Acquiror 
transactions.  


 
9. In the fall of 2009, Focus Media and Allyes management were considering 


various structures for a restricted share plan, in order to incentivize Allyes management to 
continue working at Allyes (particularly in light of significant departures of senior Allyes 
personnel that had occurred in the preceding year) and assist in a turnaround of the business.  It 
was contemplated that participants in such a plan could thereafter participate in any ultimate 
disposition (i.e., sale or IPO) of Allyes.  In a Power Point presentation received by Jiang and 
others on September 22, 2009, three restricted share issuance proposals were outlined, with a 
higher ultimate sales or IPO price for Allyes resulting in a higher incentive percentage of 
restricted share issuances:  6.7% for a disposition at $150 million, 8.4% for a disposition at $200 
million, and 10% for a disposition at $250 million.   


 
10.  On October 15, 2009, Jiang and others received an email from an Allyes 


officer summarizing a proposed allocation, which the Allyes officer described as having been 
authorized by the Focus Media board, for an issuance of approximately 8.1 million restricted 
Allyes shares (equaling 7.5% of the outstanding post-issuance share balance), the majority of 
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which would be allocated to Allyes management and employees.  Less than 10% of the newly 
issued shares were identified as being allocated to Focus Media management and employees, 
with the largest identified Focus Media recipient (Jiang) to hold 0.5% of Allyes.  Unlike with 
what ultimately happened in the MBO, in this earlier proposal, restricted share recipients were to 
pay nothing for their shares.  Focus Media records reflect that a majority of the Board’s 
Compensation Committee members approved the share allocation plan shortly thereafter.   


 
11.  In October and November 2009, documents were circulated among Focus 


Media and Allyes personnel, including in some instances Jiang, describing a plan for an “A-
Share IPO,” referring to a public offering on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, to be launched 
potentially in 2011, pursuant to which plan management would hold 20% of the listed entity at 
the time of the eventual IPO. 


 
12.  Towards the end of November 2009, an Acquiror representative reached 


out to Allyes to discuss a possible acquisition of the company.  A meeting was scheduled 
between senior representatives of Acquiror and Allyes for November 30, 2009.  By December 1, 
2009, Allyes and Acquiror executed a non-disclosure agreement concerning a potential 
transaction, and Allyes provided confidential financial information to Acquiror in connection 
with the potential transaction.   


 
13.  On December 4, 2009, Allyes management circulated to Jiang and others a 


draft presentation for the Focus Media board concerning the potential Allyes IPO.  Unlike prior 
versions of draft IPO presentations, this version provided for management to abandon the 7.5% 
restricted equity plan previously approved by a majority of Focus Media’s Compensation 
Committee.  Instead, the presentation proposed that management purchase a 19% stake of Allyes 
based on a $35 million enterprise valuation.  The presentation was circulated to the Focus Media 
board in advance of its December 6, 2009 board meeting.   


 
14.  On December 6, 2009, the Focus Media board met.  There are two 


apparently “final,” contradictory versions of the minutes.  Neither set of minutes reflects any 
discussion of an IPO transaction for Allyes.  Instead, one version of the board’s minutes reflects 
that the management of Allyes and Focus Media “proposed that they intend to purchase up to 
38% equity of Allyes,” and that the “buy-out proposal” was approved, with Allyes and Focus 
Media management and employees authorized to purchase no more than 38% of Allyes at a 
valuation of no less than “Allyes current valuation USD 35 million.”  This set of board minutes, 
for a meeting days after Allyes and Acquiror entered into a non-disclosure agreement, is the first 
Focus Media document to refer to an MBO with a buyout of 38% of Allyes.  Another version of 
the board’s minutes from the same meeting does not mention the MBO at all.   


 
15.  On December 6, 2009, the same day as the Focus Media board meeting in 


which the MBO was apparently approved at an implied valuation of $35 million, internal 
Acquiror documents reflect Acquiror’s understanding that Allyes management “has guided 
towards a valuation between $200M and $300M.”   
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16.  Later in December, Acquiror and Allyes conducted discussions 
concerning a possible acquisition of Allyes, which included a discussion of a potential 
acquisition price range of $150-200 million.  Further deal discussions between the parties did not 
occur at that time and  Acquiror business records reflect that this was at Allyes’s request, 
because Allyes asked Acquiror to “hold off the deal” for the MBO to be finalized.   


 
17.  In contrast to what his participation in the Allyes restricted share plan 


would have been, initial Focus Media drafts for the MBO agreement reflect that approximately 
half of the 38% participation was to go to Jiang. 


 
18.  After various drafts of the MBO agreement circulated internally at Focus 


Media in January and February 2010, the Focus Media board met on March 15, 2010, and 
ratified the MBO.  Although Focus Media’s contemporaneous emails refer to the board’s 
ratification of the MBO at the March 15, 2010 board meeting, the board minutes for that meeting 
do not themselves reflect any mention of the MBO.   


 
19.  On March 18, 2010, three days after the Focus Media board meeting in 


which the MBO was purportedly ratified, a senior officer of Focus Media called outside counsel 
to discuss possible representation of Focus Media in a sale of Allyes to Acquiror.  That same 
day, Acquiror business records reflect that Allyes and Acquiror management had spoken again.  
Later that month, Acquiror records reflect its understanding that “[d]eal looks something like 
200M equity, 160-ish E[nterprise] V[alue],” and that they had been informed of a desire to close 
in July “for understandable reasons.” 


 
20.  Less than four months later on July 30, 2010, Focus Media publicly 


announced that Acquiror had agreed to acquire a controlling stake in Allyes from Focus Media 
and the other shareholders.  The disclosed $124 million purchase price for Focus Media’s 
remaining 62% interest in Allyes represented an enterprise valuation of $200 million for Allyes.   


 
21.  Although Focus Media and Jiang maintain that they had no knowledge 


that there had been any discussions between Allyes management and Acquiror regarding the sale 
of Allyes for $200 million before the MBO was approved, they ignored numerous red flags that 
should have alerted them to this situation.  
 


Red Flags  


 The MBO Participants 
 


22.  Focus Media stated in its public filings that the purpose of the MBO was 
to incentivize Allyes management to assist in a turnaround of the business.  However, as a result 
of the sale to Acquiror following the MBO, the largest beneficiary of the MBO was Jiang by 
virtue of his percentage share.   


 
23.  Although Focus Media and Jiang attributed the size of Focus Media 
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management’s participation in the MBO (greater than 40%) to Allyes management’s insistence 
that Focus Media management share the risk of the incentivization program, the fact that a 
program intended to incentivize Allyes management resulted in such substantial short-term gains 
to the Focus Media CEO warranted deeper scrutiny into whether a potential deal may have been 
available to Allyes at the time the structure of the MBO was first under consideration.  The need 
for such scrutiny was heightened with respect to subsequent public filings because a Focus 
Media director became aware that Jiang had approved payment of a $2.6 million finder’s fee to 
an Allyes officer for bringing the Acquiror deal to Focus Media.  Jiang approved the fee without 
full disclosure to the Focus Media Board.   


 
24.  Similarly, although the stated purpose of the MBO was to incentivize 


Allyes management, two of the MBO participants were British Virgin Island-incorporated 
entities purportedly owned by individuals who had been retained by Allyes as consultants—not 
employees—in November 2009 shortly before the MBO.  There is no indication in Focus 
Media’s records that these consultants actually performed work on behalf of Allyes, and Focus 
Media’s records do not reflect any inquiry by any member of the Focus Media board, including 
Jiang, concerning the basis for providing those individuals with the opportunity to purchase 
MBO shares.  Moreover, Jiang, having been asked by an Allyes representative to lend a BVI 
entity money so that it would be able to purchase the shares, funded the participation of one of 
the BVI entities.  Jiang’s loan was subsequently repaid in cash, by that Allyes representative 
after the Acquiror transaction closed. 


 
 The Price Difference Between the MBO and the Acquiror Transaction 
 


25.  Although Focus Media received an appraisal supporting the $35 million 
MBO valuation, contemporaneous internal discussions regarding an ultimate sale or IPO of 
Allyes in the range of $150 to $250 million should have led Focus Media and Jiang to question 
the company’s reliance on that valuation only months before Allyes was indeed sold to Acquiror 
for $200 million. 
 


The Failure to Notice and Act on Evidence of Prior Communications with Acquiror 
 


26.  After the Focus Media officer became aware in March 2010 that 
negotiations were occurring with Acquiror, there is no indication that Focus Media took any 
steps to determine when those discussions had first started, and what the content of those 
discussions had been.  In addition, in July 2010, another Focus Media officer failed to notice a 
reference to the pre-MBO December 1, 2009 non-disclosure agreement between Allyes and 
Acquiror in a deal-related document being circulated by email.   
 
 The Lack of Appropriate Corporate Formalities 


 
27.  Focus Media’s records do not indicate at what date the company bound 


itself to the MBO, and the agreement was still being circulated for signature to certain purchasers 
up until July 28, 2010.  One of the participants did not fund the MBO until late June 2010, one 
week after Acquiror executed a Term Sheet, purportedly because nobody had asked for the 
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money.  And a number of Focus Media employees who ended up receiving proceeds arising 
from the sale to Acquiror of interests purchased in the MBO, were not parties to the MBO 
agreement.   
 


28.  The lack of formality in executing and funding the MBO, together with 
the undocumented receipt of proceeds by Focus Media employees, should have subjected the 
MBO and the ultimate sale to Acquiror to greater scrutiny into whether there was any connection 
between the two events. 
 


29.  Moreover, and as explained above, Focus Media’s board minutes 
concerning the sale of the Allyes asset in the MBO are both inconsistent and incomplete.  With 
respect to the Focus Media board meeting of December 6, 2009, the company’s records contain 
two purportedly “final” versions of board minutes, one mentioning board approval of the MBO 
and one not mentioning the MBO at all.  With respect to the Focus Media board meeting of 
March 15, 2010, the company’s board minutes do not mention the MBO at all, even though other 
records reflect that the board voted on and approved the transaction during that meeting.  With 
respect to a Focus Media board meeting of July 10, 2010, at which the potential sale to Acquiror 
was purportedly discussed, the company’s records do not contain any board minutes from that 
meeting. 
 


30.  Certain of Focus Media’s SEC filings, including filings signed by Jiang, 
concerning the MBO and the sale of Allyes to Acquiror were materially misleading in that they 
contained unqualified statements that the MBO was undertaken at a price approximating fair 
value and in order to incentivize management to seek long-term sustainable growth.  At the time, 
however, Focus Media and Jiang could have accessed information indicating the inaccuracy of 
those statements.  Had they inquired further into the circumstances surrounding the MBO based 
on the red flags described above, they would have uncovered the following information:  (i) that 
the MBO was finalized after Acquiror and Allyes had engaged in discussions concerning a sale 
of Allyes in December at a $200 million price that was multiples of the MBO price; and (ii) that 
consultants and other non-disclosed parties took part in the MBO.  Focus Media’s material 
misrepresentations and omissions were repeated in numerous company filings, including filings 
related to the secondary offering of ADRs into the market on September 7, 2010. 


 
31.  Jiang’s and Focus Media’s failure to exercise an appropriate level of care 


in scrutinizing the MBO resulted in the Focus Media Board receiving materially inaccurate 
information regarding the MBO.   
 


Violations 
 


32.  As a result of the conduct described above, Focus Media and Jiang 
violated Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act, which prohibits obtaining money or property by 
means of any untrue statement of a material fact or any omission to state a material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they 
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were made, not misleading.2 
 


33.  As a result of the conduct described above, Focus Media violated Section 
13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act, which requires reporting companies to make and keep books, 
records, and accounts which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect their transactions 
and dispositions of their assets. 
 


IV. 
 


In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate to impose the sanctions 
agreed to in Respondents’ Offers. 
 


Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that:  
 


A. Pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, Respondents Focus Media and Jiang 
cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any future violations of Sections 
17(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  Pursuant to Section 21C of the Exchange Act, Respondent Focus 
Media cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any future violations of 
Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act. 


 
B. Respondent Focus Media shall within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay a civil 


money penalty in the amount of $34,600,000 to the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If 
timely payment is not made, additional interest shall accrue pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 3717.  Payment 
must be made in one of the following ways:   
 


(1) Respondent Focus Media may transmit payment electronically to the Commission, 
which will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request;  


 
(2) Respondent Focus Media may make direct payment from a bank account via 


Pay.gov through the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm; or  
 
(3) Respondent Focus Media may pay by certified check, bank cashier’s check, or 


United States postal money order, made payable to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and hand-delivered or mailed to:  


 
Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
HQ Bldg., Room 181, AMZ-341 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 


 


                                              
2 A violation of Section 17(a)(2) may be established by a showing of negligent conduct.  Aaron v. 
SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 696-97 (1980).   
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Payments by check or money order must be accompanied by a cover letter identifying 
Focus Media as a Respondent in these proceedings, and the file number of these proceedings; a 
copy of the cover letter and check or money order must be sent to Andrew M. Calamari, Division 
of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, New York Regional Office, 200 Vesey 
Street, New York, New York 10128.   


 
C. Respondent Jiang shall, within 30 days of the entry of this Order, pay a civil money 


penalty in the amount of $9,690,000; disgorgement of $9,690,000; and prejudgment interest on the 
amount to be disgorged of $1,647,865.43 to the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If timely 
payment is not made, additional interest shall accrue pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 3717 and Commission 
Rule of Practice, Rule 600.  Payment must be made in one of the following Payment must be made 
in one of the following ways:   
 


(1) Respondent Jiang may transmit payment electronically to the Commission, which 
will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request;  


 
(2) Respondent Jiang may make direct payment from a bank account via Pay.gov 


through the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm; or  
 
(3) Respondent Jiang may pay by certified check, bank cashier’s check, or United 


States postal money order, made payable to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and hand-delivered or mailed to:  


 
Enterprise Services Center 
Accounts Receivable Branch 
HQ Bldg., Room 181, AMZ-341 
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 


 
Payments by check or money order must be accompanied by a cover letter identifying 


Jiang as a Respondent in these proceedings, and the file number of these proceedings; a copy of the 
cover letter and check or money order must be sent to Andrew M. Calamari, Division of 
Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, New York Regional Office, 200 Vesey Street, 
New York, New York 10128.   


 
D. Pursuant to Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, a Fair 


Fund is created for the disgorgement, interest and/or penalties referenced in paragraphs B and C 
above.  Regardless of whether any such Fair Fund distribution is made, amounts ordered to be paid 
as civil money penalties pursuant to this Order shall be treated as penalties paid to the government 
for all purposes, including all tax purposes.  To preserve the deterrent effect of the civil penalty, 
Respondents agrees that in any Related Investor Action, they shall not argue that Respondents are 
entitled to, nor shall they benefit by, offset or reduction of any award of compensatory damages by 
the amount of any part of Respondents’ payments of a civil penalty in this action (“Penalty 
Offset”).  If the court in any Related Investor Action grants such a Penalty Offset, Respondents 
agrees that they shall, within 30 days after entry of a final order granting the Penalty Offset, notify 
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the Commission's counsel in this action and pay the amount of the Penalty Offset to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission.  Such a payment shall not be deemed an additional civil penalty and 
shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil penalty imposed in this proceeding.  For 
purposes of this paragraph, a “Related Investor Action” means a private damages action brought 
against Respondents by or on behalf of one or more investors based on substantially the same facts 
as alleged in the Order instituted by the Commission in this proceeding.  
 


V. 
 
It is further Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptions to discharge set forth in Section 


523 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §523 with respect to Respondent Jiang, the findings in this 
Order are true and admitted by Respondent Jiang, and further, any debt for disgorgement, 
prejudgment interest, civil penalty or other amounts due by Respondent Jiang under this Order or 
any other judgment, order, consent order, decree or settlement agreement entered in connection 
with this proceeding, is a debt for the violation by Respondent Jiang of the federal securities laws 
or any regulation or order issued under such laws, as set forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the 
Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §523(a)(19). 
 


By the Commission. 
 
 
 


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                Brent J. Fields 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Secretary 





